
NFS Form 10-900 
(Rev. 10-90)

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

0MB No. 1024-OQlii
1

1 INTERAGENCV RESOURCES DMSION 
! NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

This form is for use in nominating or requesting deterrrni nflt.aifivras^Xojr. individual.   
properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the National 
Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A) . 
Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by entering the 
information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being 
documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural 
classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and 
subcategories from the instructions . Place additional entries and narrative 
items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a) . Use a typewriter, word 
processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historic name

other names/site number _Covington Downtown Commercial Historic District 
(District Expansion)

2. Location.

street & number _701, 702, 709, 711, 713, 715, 722 and 723-725 Scott Boulevard
not for publication N/A
city or town _Covington______________________ vicinity N/A
state _Kentucky___________ code _KY_ county __Kenton_______ code _H7
zip code _41011___

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, 
as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination ___ request for 
determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering 
properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural 
and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the 
property __^_ meets ___ does not meet the National Register Criteria. I 
recommend that this property be considered significant __ nationally __ 
statewide X locally. ( __ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

David L. MDrgan, SHPO and __
Executive Director 

Signature 'of certifying official Date

State Historic Preservation Office: Kentucky Heritage Council 
State or Federal agency and bureau



In my opinion, the property ___ meets ___ does not meet the National Register 
criteria. ( __ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

If hereby certify that this property is: , *- - •/ Entered i- ,
V entered in the National Register flatlQ^al Be6ib______ /^ //

__ See continuation sheet. 
___ determined eligible for the __________________ _____'

National Register
__ See continuation sheet. 

___ determined not eligible for the _________________ _____
National Register 

___ removed from the National Register __________________ _____

___ other (explain): ______________

Signature of Keeper Date
of Action

5. Classification

Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply) 
_X_ private 
__ public-local 
__ public-State 
_X_ public-Federal

Category of Property (Check only one box) 
__ building(s) 
_X_ district 
__ site 
__ structure 
__ object

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing
_10_ _0_ buildings
_0_ _0_ sites
_0_ _0_ structures
_0_ _0_ objects
_10_ _0_ Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National 
Register _0_

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part 
of a multiple property listing.) 
N/A



6. Function or Use
:======::======

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: DOMESTIC_______________ Sub: __single dwelling

DOMESTIC_______________ multiple dwelling
"HEALTH CARE clinic
GOVERNMENT____________ __post office/courthouse_ 
"COMMERCE/TRADE_________ __specialty store_____~

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: _DOMESTIC_______________ Sub: multiple dwelling 

COMMERCE/TRADE__________ __office building
GOVERNMENT______________ __post of f ice/courthouse
"HEALTH CARE clinic
COMMERCE/TRADE___________ __Specialty store

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions) 
_Italianate________________________ 
_Second Renaissance Revival___________

Other: Classicism

Materials (Enter categories from instructions) 
foundation _Stone_________________ 
roof __Asphalt____________________ 
walls Brick

_Limes tone_ 
other Metal

Terra Cotta

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the 
property on one or more continuation sheets.)



8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the 
criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made a significant 
contribution to the broad patterns of our history.

___ B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our 
past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, 
period, or method of construction or represents the work of a 
master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a 
significant and distinguishable entity whose components 
lack individual distinction.

___ D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important 
in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

___ A owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.

___ B removed from its original location.

___ C a birthplace or a grave.

___ D a cemetery.

___ E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

___ F a commemorative property.

___ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 
50 years.

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
__Commerce_______________ 
__Politics/government

Architecture

Period of Significance ___c.1870-1940 (for expanded district area)
___c.1856-1933 (for original district area)

Significant Dates 1940

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)
_N/A______________________

Cultural Affiliation N/A



9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one 
or more continuation sheets.) See Continuation Sheet #

Previous documentation on file (NFS)
__ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been

requested.
__ previously listed in the National Register 
__ previously determined eligible by the National Register 
__ designated a National Historic Landmark ' 
__ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # __________
_____ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # ________

Primary Location of Additional Data
__ State Historic Preservation Office
__ Other State agency
__ Federal agency
__ Local government
__ University
__ Other
Name of repository: _____________________________

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _3 acres (District Expansion); 42 acres (original district) 

UTM References Covington, Kentucky-Ohio 7.5' Quad

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing 
A 16 715490 4328780 C 16 715500 4328690 
B 16 715580 4328800 D 16 715600 4328700 
__ See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a 
continuation sheet.) See attached plat map

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a 
continuation sheet.)



11. Form Prepared By

name/title__Rita Walsh/Principal Investigator

organization_Gray & Pape, Inc._________________ date 7/95_

street & number_1318 Main Street _____________ telephone_(513)287-7700_ 

city or town____Cincinnati_______________ state_OH_ zip code _45210___

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
7.5 minute Covington, Kentucky-Ohio quad map. ' 
Sketch map which shows building outlines, photograph locations, contributing 
status and addresses for the district expansion.

Photographs
Ten 5" x 7" black and white photographs of the district expansion.

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.) See attached list of 
property owners.

name

street & number_______________________________ telephone_

city or town______________________________ state____ zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for 
applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties 
for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to 
amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit 
in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 
470 et seq.).
Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated 
to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for reviewing instructions, 
gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct 
comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, 
Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127,' 
Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork 
Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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The proposed expansion to the Covington Downtown Commercial Historic District, 
originally nominated in 1983, consists of nearly two-thirds of each of the east 
and west sides of the block of Scott Boulevard between E. Seventh and E. Eighth 
Streets, which encompasses nearly 3 acres, at the southeastern edge of the CBD. 
Nine of the ten buildings included within this expansion front on both the east 
and west sides of Scott Boulevard, while the tenth structure is an outbuilding 
at the rear of one of the nineteenth century residences. Nine of the ten 
buildings are considered contributing due to their high degree of integrity; the 
c. 1929 building at 722 Scott Boulevard is also contributing, although it has 
been severely altered. The block includes two major twentieth century 
institutional buildings which replaced earlier commercial structures and 
residential buildings.

The buildings range in size from two to four stories in height and date from c. 
1870 to 1940. Table 1 briefly describes the physical characteristics of these 
buildings. The Covington Post Office and Courthouse and the Doctors' Building 
were designed by architects, both fairly conservative renditions of popular 
architectural styles, while the rest of the buildings are modest examples of the 
prevailing architectural styles in their period of construction.

The district extension includes the 1940 Covington Post Office and Courthouse, 
1929 four-story Doctors' Building, a c. 1915 three-story commercial building, a 
c. 1929 three-story commercial building, four Italianate two-to-three story brick 
residences, of which at least one originally had a storefront, and a brick 
outbuilding. Currently within the official boundaries of the CBD, the block was 
decidedly residential during the nineteenth century, with only a small number of 
interspersed businesses. In the early twentieth century, the construction of 
four institutional and commercial buildings on the block and the conversion of 
some of the Italianate residences to a partial commercial use produced a definite 
impact on its character which united the block to Covington's main commercial 
district. The businesses or institutions in at least three of the early 
twentieth century buildings had previous locations in other blocks of the 
commercial district.

Like most of the Covington Downtown Commercial Historic District, the blockface 
of Scott Boulevard between E. Seventh and E. Eighth Street has experienced marked 
changes since the nineteenth century.

The earliest detailed map, the 1877 Hopkins Atlas of Covington, showed a fairly 
contiguous stretch of buildings, presumably mostly residences on the west side 
of Scott Boulevard. A fairly even distribution of frame and brick residences 
lined the block, several with stables or other outbuildings in the rear of the 
lot. The east side of Scott was more broken up, with a group of buildings on the 
northern end and two structures towards the south. A large open space in between 
these buildings was owned by Rev. G. A. Carroll, the archbishop of Covington. 
Their buildings, St. Mary's church and school, and the Sisters of Charity 
convent, were located east in the center of the block and mainly fronted on 
Seventh and Eighth Streets. Information from the 1874 city directory confirmed 
the residential character of the block, which was the home for several laborers, 
a dress maker, carpenter, clerk, grocers, brewer, shoe maker, and several widows.
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Most of the residents possessed last names of Anglo or Irish origin, while two 
individuals had German surnames. The block also contained two retail grocery 
stores and a notions store.

Little change occurred in the 1880s, as evidenced by the 1886 Sanborn map, but 
by 1894, the date of the next Sanborn map, several of the earlier residences had 
been replaced on the west side of Scott Boulevard. The 1909 Sanborn map revealed 
that only a minimum amount of alteration had occurred, predominantly the loss of 
outbuildings in the rear of some lots. By this date, although St. Mary's School 
remained on E. Seventh Street, the convent and church in the center of the block 
had been demolished. In 1916, the Jewish community built a synagogue, called 
Temple Israel, on the south side of E. Seventh Street close to Scott Boulevard.

Between World War I and II, the initiation of several building projects in the 
block triggered the transition from an area of residential and neighborhood- 
oriented business to one that was predominantly commercial in its function and 
appearance. By the Depression, the block of mainly two story residences was 
starting to be visually dominated by its later commercial neighbors, including 
the three-story Monarch Auto Supply Building at 722 Scott Boulevard and the four- 
story Doctors Building at 701 Scott Boulevard. Almost ten years later, several 
of the nineteenth century and early twentieth century buildings on the east side 
of Scott Boulevard at its northern end were replaced by the monumental Covington 
Post Office and Courthouse. Even just before World War II, however, an intact 
grouping of nineteenth century buildings lined most of the west, side of Scott 
Boulevard. Today a small number of these buildings have survived in the center 
of the block, all now converted to at least a partial commercial use. The 
southern end of the block outside of the proposed extension contains three office 
and commercial buildings from the 1960s which indicate the continued growth and 
change on this block, but which are not compatible with the historic appearance 
of the block.



Table 1. Brief Description of Buildings in the Covington Downtown Commercial Historic District Extension

Address

702 Scott

701 Scott

709 Scott

711 Scott

713 Scott

715 Scott

722 Scott

723-725 Scott

Outbuilding 
in rear of 
723-725 Scott

No. of 
stories

3

4

2

2

2

2

3

2

2

Date of 
construction

1940

1929

c. 1915

c. 1870

c. 1870

c. 1870

c. 1929

c. 1870

c.1870

Wall 
construction

Steel frame

Unknown

Unknown

Brick load- 
bearing

Brick load- 
bearing

Brick load- 
bearing

Unknown

Brick load- 
bearing

Brick load- 
bearing

Roof type

Flat

Flat

Flat

Gable, 
side

Gable, 
side

Gable, 
side

Flat

Gable, 
side

Gable, 
side

Exterior 
cladding

Limestone

Pressed 
brick

Wire-cut 
brick

Common bond 
brick

Common bond 
brick

Common bond 
brick

Brick

Common bond 
brick

Common bond 
brick

Architectural 
style

Modern 
classicism

Second 
Renaissance 
Revival

Italianate

Italianate

Italianate

Art Deco 
elements

Italianate

Italianate

Alterations

Steel casement sash 
replaced with 
aluminum sash to 
match original 
c.1992

Removal of marquee 
on north side

Storefront enclosed

Portion of cornice 
removed

20th century 
storefront 
remodeling

20th century 
storefront 
remodeling

Upper story windows 
lowered; c. 1960s 
storefront 
remodeling

c. 1920s wire-cut 
brick porch added

Garage doors added 
on west side; small 
wooden porch 
enclosure on e. side
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Architect/Builder ___Ellett, Thomas Harlan, architect
___Simon, Louis, architect______

Architect/Builder (continued)

Dailey, Albert R., architect
Northcutt Bros., builders
A. Farnell Blair Company, builders

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on 
one or more continuation, sheets.)
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The original nomination prepared in 1983 expressed the significance of the 
Covington Downtown Commercial Historic District in terms of its historic and on­ 
going function as the commercial, financial and legal center for the city, which 
includes some industrial, residential and institutional elements. Numerous 
buildings representing the Anglo-American culture and those of the culture of the 
numerous German residents of the area from the nineteenth and early twentieth 
century remain within the district's borders. Architecturally, the district's 
distinctive character is derived from the majority of nineteenth century medium- 
size brick buildings with Italianate detail, although designs by noted Cincinnati 
and local architects appear throughout the district. The nomination stressed the 
themes of continuity, stability and local mobility within the Covington Downtown 
Commercial Historic District. A diversity of commercial and institutional uses 
were a constant feature of the district and, through the decades, many changed 
their locations within the district's borders. The proposed extension to the 
historic district encompasses a block of late nineteenth century and early 
twentieth century buildings which echo these themes and retain enough of their 
historic architectural integrity to be considered a compatible extension to the 
existing historic district.

The district was originally nominated under Criteria A and C; this district 
expansion meets the same eligibility criteria for the period 1856 to 1933 in the 
areas of Commerce, Politics and Government. This period of significance is 
presumed for the original district, based on the earliest date of construction 
known for a building and the 50-year cut-off date for the ending date because no 
specific period of significance was noted. The period of significance for this 
district expansion ranges from c. 1870-1940, reflecting the date of construction 
for the earliest extant building, and that of the latest, which is certainly the 
most prominent structure in the district visually.

The original district's boundaries basically encompass the major commercial 
artery of Madison Avenue from 4th to Robbins Streets and smaller sections of 
Greenup and Scott Boulevards north of 5th Street. The block of Scott Boulevard 
between E. Seventh and E. Eighth Streets proposed for addition to these (original 
district boundaries borders the current district on its east side. The block, 
however, was specifically mentioned in the 1983 nomination as being more 
appropriately included with the residential area on Scott Boulevard to the south 
or as part of a multiple property nomination. A current examination of this 
block, which is the subject of this nomination, however, makes it clear that it 
is more appropriate for inclusion within the larger commercial historic district 
as it shares many architectural and historic functional and developmental 
characteristics with the currently listed Downtown Commercial District. The 
block of Scott Boulevard south of E. Eighth Street is predominantly residential 
in appearance, despite some commercial uses housed within some of the nineteenth 
century buildings. Additionally, vacant areas and three newer buildings at the 
southern end of the block between Seventh and Eighth further distance it from 
this residential area. The block north of Seventh Street contains several early 
twentieth century commercial buildings and one fine Italianate building but its 
former strong streetscape is decimated by parking lots today. The area to the 
east on Greenup Street is lined with elegant nineteenth century houses, many now 
converted to commercial and office purposes without alterations to their
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residential character.

The Scott Boulevard block proposed for expansion of this district was 
predominantly residential during the nineteenth century, as evidenced by the 
examination of historic maps and the presence of four brick Italianate buildings 
(711, 713, 715 and 723-725 Scott Boulevard) on the block's west side. The 
historic maps and city directory information further indicate that a small number 
of commercial enterprises usually found within residential districts were located 
on the block, and included grocery and notions stores and a saloon. But stronger 
links with Covington's main commercial district were developed beginning in the 
early twentieth century.

The four twentieth century buildings within the proposed district expansion all 
date from before World War II. The earliest of the four was 709 Scott Boulevard, 
which was probably built in the 1910s. Its original function is not known, but 
by 1940 it was used for a cafe. Its scale and size were sympathetic to the 
earlier buildings on the street. Its current occupant is Madison Photo Works, 
whose move here from Madison Avenue continues the district's trend of local 
mobility. By the late 1920s, two more substantial buildings were erected on the 
block, producing a noticeable change in the physical and functional character of 
the street. These buildings were the three-story Monarch Auto Supply Building 
at 722 Scott Boulevard and the four-story Doctors Building at 701 Scott 
Boulevard. The Monarch Auto Supply Company, owned by B. F. G. Keam, J.J. 
Bosshammer and H. M. Bosshammer, was re-located from 438 Scott Boulevard to 722 
Scott Boulevard by 1930. The new building does not appear to have displaced any 
earlier structures, as this section of the block was open space owned by the 
Archdiocese of Covington throughout the late nineteenth and early twentieth 
centuries. Although considered contributing but altered, due to the 1960s 
modifications to the lower two stories, the building still possesses its carved, 
stylized ornamentation at the top corners and rectilinear massing which suggest 
a modest Art Deco flavor to the building.

Plans to consolidate a number of doctors' and dentists' offices into a single 
downtown building were publicized beginning in 1927. Two brothers, Dr. Joseph 
Northcutt and Dr. Ed Northcutt, were the developers of the Doctors' Building, 
which also included a private hospital, an x-ray lab in the basement and 
storerooms on the first floor. The brothers were perhaps following the lead of 
the Doctors' Building development in Cincinnati, which was completed in 1923. 
Prior to the building's construction, the brothers had offices nearby in the 
Coppin Building, at 638 Madison Avenue. Undoubtedly many of the other doctors 
and dentists who became tenants of the new building when it was finished in 1929 
likewise transferred from other downtown locations. The corner storeroom was 
occupied by Walter Steiger, druggist, from 1929 until 1969. A pharmacy is still 
located here, but no doctors' offices remain in the building. It appears that 
there were still tenants related to the medical profession into the late 1980s.

Covington architect, Alfred B. Daily, designed the building in a modified and 
very late rendition of the Second Renaissance Revival. Designs by local 
architects are fairly common within the original boundaries of the Commercial 
District. The building's original design is intact, except for the removal of



NFS Form 10-900-a 0MB No. 1024-0018 
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section _8_ Page _4_ Covington Downtown Commercial
Historic District Expansion 

Covington, Kenton County, kentucky

a decorative marquee at the north, Seventh Street, entrance. The building was 
constructed by the Northcutt Brothers Company, builders, who also built the 1912- 
1913 Berman Flats at the southeast corner of Madison and Eighth in the original 
district. Undoubtedly the company had some relationship to the developers of the 
Doctors' Building, as did Homer Northcutt, a contractor, and Northcutt Realty, 
who were first floor tenants of this building soon after it opened.

Little construction occurred after the onset of the Depression throughout the 
city and only a small number of buildings were added to the district during this 
period, including the Woolworth's Store at the southeast corner of Seventh and 
Madison and the Board of Education Building at 23-25 E. 7th Street, both just 
west of the district expansion's western boundary. The latter was one of several 
Works Progress Administration (WPA) projects in the city.

Another department of the Federal Government was responsible for the construction 
of the most visually imposing building in the district expansion, the 1940 
Covington Post Office and Courthouse. Its construction by the Treasury 
Department was certainly one of the most important building projects in the city 
during the 1930s until after World War II. The building was the subject of one 
of two national design competitions sponsored by the Treasury Department in 1939 
and. was one of the larger post office commissions in the country during this 
period. Its construction was the source of employment for many local laborers, 
craftsmen and companies which supplied materials.

A congressional appropriation for a new federal building in Covington was made 
in the early 1930s. By that time, the 1870s Federal Building located in the 
northern end of the commercial district at Greenup, Scott, Third and Park Place 
was considered antiquated and it is possible that its location was regarded as 
less desirable. Despite subsequent lobbying efforts, there was no action on this 
project until 1937 when the federal government acquired the properties at the 
corner of Seventh and Scott Boulevard by eminent domain and razed all of the 
existing buildings.

In 1939, a nationwide design competition for the new building was sponsored by 
the Treasury Department. The Treasury Department was responsible for the design 
of all federal buildings during most of the 1930s, and from 1934 until 1939 all 
designs were by the Office of the Supervising Architect. The Covington Post 
Office competition was one of two sponsored by the Treasury Department in 1939, 
after the government reversed their five-year old policy of not employing private 
architects for federal building projects. The other competition was for a 
typical small post office, which received over 1,000 submittals. The Covington 
competition attracted designs from over 650 architects. The reason for the 
larger number of competitors for the former building is not known; it is presumed 
that perhaps this competition was more attractive because the winning design 
would be used in numerous locations across the country, as opposed to only being 
seen in Covington.

The winner of the design competition was New York architect, Thomas Harlan 
Ellett, who was paid $4,500 for the design and an additional $4,500 for the 
preparation of working drawings. A publication of the winning design, plus the
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three honorable mentions in the periodical, Pencil Points, revealed the 
prominence of the "simplified classicism" most often employed for federal post 
offices. One of these was'by the prestigious Chicago firm of Holabird and Root. 
Another honorable mention, by Walter F. Bogner and Hugh Stubbins of Boston, was 
a striking Miesian design which would have created quite a stir in the 
Covington/Cincinnati architectural community. According to architectural 
historian, Walter Langsam, a small number of International Style residences were 
built in Cincinnati during the 1930s, the designs of local architects, Garriott 
and Becker and Potter, Tyler and Martin. It was not until 1946 that the first 
non-residential building in this style was erected in the Greater Cincinnati 
area. The building, the Terrace Plaza Hotel by Skidmore, Owings & Merrill, was 
even then considered "radical".!

For many post offices built during this period, artwork in the forms qf murals 
or sculpture were an integral part of the construction project. The primary 
funds for post office artwork were provided by the Federal government through the 
Treasury Department's Section of Painting and Sculpture. Known by this name from 
1934-1939, their program used 1% of the total appropriation for the building's 
construction for artwork. The awards were made based on anonymous competitions, 
and stressed the quality of the artist's work over the need for relief.

The exterior limestone carvings in the lintels above the two Scott Boulevard 
entrances were the design of Carl L. Schmitz, a New York City sculptor, who won 
the blind competition sponsored by the Treasury Department's Section of Fine 
Arts. The two panels featured the Kentucky themes of "Horsebreeding" and 
"Tobacco". The former, located above the northern Scott Boulevard entrance, was 
composed of a young man with a foal, while the latter at the southern end shows 
a girl, presumably a tobacco grower's daughter, reading a letter to her younger 
brother which further symbolized the importance of post office service. The 
carvings were executed by Danish-born sculptor, Reinhold Hirlund, who lived in 
Cincinnati. Hirlund had studied under the famous sculptor, Clement J. Barnhorn. 
In the vestibule of the southern entrance is an evocative bronze statue of a 
woman with her arms stretched upward. Also funded through the Section of Fine 
Arts program, the sculptor was Austrian-born Romauld Kraus who was a Cincinnati, 
Ohio resident at the time. The statue, entitled "Justice", won the sculpture 
prize at San Francisco's Golden Gate exhibition in 1939. The sculpture's pose 
derived from Kraus' belief that absolute justice needed to be combined "...with 
a feeling of understanding and commiseration as well." 2

Construction on the building began in January 1940, one month after the 
construction contract was awarded to A. Farnell Blair Company of Decatur, 
Georgia. The two main federal officials involved during construction were Louis 
A. Simon, Supervising Architect, and Neal A. Melnick, Supervising Engineer. The 
project was expected to employ over 200 Covington men and use the materials and

!Architecture and Construction in Cincinnati: A Guide to Buildings, Designers & 
Builders, Architectural Foundation of Cincinnati, 1987, page 59.

2 "Kentucky boasts art of the 1930s", Steve Rosen, Tri-State Magazine, n.d.
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services of local companies. An example was the Michaels Art Bronze Company of 
Covington, which supplied the bronze fixtures and rosettes in the building 
interior. Scheduled to be completed in 360 calendar days, the construction time

ran one month over the anticipated year. During that same period, over 200 small 
post offices were erected throughout the country. Upon its dedication on 
February 22, 1941, the building housed all of the Federal agencies in Covington, 
although as its official title implies, the post office and courthouse were the 
largest tenants.

The building retains overall its historic appearance, most stunningly in the 
front lobby and exterior. In 1992, the steel casement windows in the building's 
front facade were replaced with aluminum units which matched the profile of the 
original ones.
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Verbal Boundary Description

See enclosed plat map which shows proposed boundary expansion in heavy black 
lines.

Boundary Justification

This block is the obvious edge of the southeast corner of the historic 
commercial district, in terms of both visual perception and function. Nineteenth 
century residential areas border this block to the south along Scott Boulevard 
and to the east on Greenup Street and are inappropriate for addition to the 
Commercial District. The block of Scott Boulevard to the north of Seventh Street 
bears some similarities to the block being nominated, as it contains some early 
twentieth century commercial buildings and a fine Italianate 
residential/commercial building, as well as several surface parking lots. The 
area to the west on Madison Avenue and its connecting side streets of E. Seventh 
and E. Eighth Street are already included within the existing historic district.

The block of Scott Boulevard between E. Seventh and E. Eighth Streets proposed 
for addition to these original district boundaries was mentioned, along with the 
other blocks south of E. Seventh Street, in the 1983 nomination as being more 
appropriately included with the residential area on Scott Boulevard to the south 
or as part of a multiple property nomination. A current examination of this 
block, proposed for expansion of the Commercial District, however, makes it clear 
that it is more appropriate to include it within the commercial district, as it 
shares many architectural and historic functional and developmental 
characteristics with this area. In contrast, the block of Scott to the.south of 
the proposed expansion, south of E. Eighth Street, is predominantly residential 
in appearance, despite some commercial uses housed within some of the nineteenth 
century buildings. Vacant areas and three newer buildings at the southern end 
of the block between Seventh and Eighth (the block proposed for expansion) 
further distance it from this residential area. The block north of Seventh 
Street contains several early twentieth century commercial buildings and one fine 
Italianate building but its formerly unified streetscape is decimated by parking 
lots today.

The area to the east on Greenup Street is lined with elegant nineteenth century 
houses, many now converted to commercial and office purposes without alterations 
to their residential character. This portion of Greenup Street from Fifth to 
Eighth Streets is already included within the Licking Riverside National Register 
Historic District. As mentioned earlier in this section, the area west of the 
proposed expansion is already part of the current district, except for the 
northern side of E. Seventh Street which contains a c. 1992 parking garage and 
open parking lot.
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Photographs

The following photographs were taken in June 1995 by Rita Walsh, Principal 
Investigator, Gray & Pape, Inc. of Cincinnati, Ohio. The negatives are filed at 
Gray & Pape, Inc. 1318 Main Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45210.

Photograph #1

View of west side of Scott Boulevard
Photographer facing southwest from E. Seventh Street

Photograph #2
View of 1929 Doctors' Building, 701 Scott Boulevard
Photographer facing southwest from E. Seventh Street

Photograph #3
View of west side of Scott Boulevard
Photographer facing northwest from in front of 723-725 Scott Boulevard

Photograph #4
View of 715 Scott Boulevard (in center) and 711 Scott to right in photograph and
723-725 Scott Boulevard in left of photograph
Photographer facing southwest from in front of 711 Scott Boulevard

Photograph #5
View of outbuilding behind (west of) 723-725 Scott Boulevard
Photographer facing southwest from alley north of 723-725 Scott Boulevard

Photograph #6
View of Scott Boulevard south of the district's boundary extension 
Photographer facing southwest from in front of the Covington Post Of,fice and 
Courthouse, 702 Scott Boulevard

Photograph #7
View of the north (Seventh Street side) and front (west, Scott Boulevard side)
of the 1940 Covington Post Office and Courthouse
Photographer facing southeast from the northwest corner of Seventh and Scott
Boulevard

Photograph #8
View of east side of Scott Boulevard; the Covington Post Office and Courthouse,
702 Scott Boulevard, and 722 Scott Boulevard are the first two buildings from the
left of the photograph.
Photographer facing southeast from the northwest corner of Seventh and Scott
Boulevard
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Photograph #9
View of east side of Scott Boulevard
Photographer facing northeast from in front of 722 Scott Boulevard

Photograph #10
View of the limestone panel above the north entrance to the Covington Post Office
and Courthouse entitled "Horsebreeding". One of the original bronze light
fixtures in the lobby can be seen just inside the entrance.
Photographer facing east from Scott Boulevard


